SUPREME COURT COPY

No. S183523

CRC 8.25(b) SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 1 0 2010

First District Court of Appeal Division Two

Frederick K. Ohirich Clerk

Case No. A125567

Deputy

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### STEVE ROSSA and CONNIE ROSSA,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

VS.

#### D.L. FALK CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

On Appeal from the Superior Court of San Mateo County Superior Court Case No. CIV442294 Honorable Marie Weiner

> Tony J. Tanke, SBN 74054 LAW OFFICES OF TONY J. TANKE 2050 Lyndell Terrace, Suite 240 Davis, CA 95616 Telephone: (530) 758-4530

#### INTRODUCTION

Rule 8.278, subdivision (d)(1)(F) of the California Rules of Court enables appellants who obtain reversals of money judgments to recover as costs on appeal the "reasonable . . . cost to procure a surety bond, including the premium and the cost to obtain a letter of credit as collateral" for such a bond. This case will enable the Court to decide whether an appellant who must borrow funds to secure letter-of-credit collateral for an appeal bond can be awarded the interest costs it reasonably and necessarily expended.

The Court of Appeal here refused to allow appellant to recover the interest it had to pay to secure an appeal bond. Its decision thus denied the victim of a flawed money judgment any reimbursement for the reasonable out-of-pocket expenses it was forced to incur to protect its assets pending appeal. As appellant will demonstrate, the Court of Appeal's rejection of an interest award disregarded the plain meaning, history, and purpose of the appellate costs rule. This Court can and should rectify its error.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. A party falls victim to a legally-flawed money judgment. To protect its assets pending appeal, it must post an appeal bond. The surety posting the bond requires a bank's letter of credit as collateral for the

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All emphasis is added unless otherwise stated.

bond obligation. The bank, in turn, requires the party to obtain a loan in the amount of the letter of credit.

After obtaining reversal of the judgment, can such a party recover the interest expenses it paid for the letter of credit as "reasonable... cost to procure a surety bond, including the premium and the cost to obtain a letter of credit as collateral" under rule 8.278, subdivision (d)(1)F) of the California Rules of Court?

Short Answer: Yes. The plain language of the rule and its manifest purpose provides for awards to prevailing appellants for the actual and reasonable costs of posting and collateralizing appeal bonds with letters of credit. Parties faced with erroneous money judgments may lack the assets to collateralize bonds by posting 150% of the amount of the judgment – in this case nearly a million dollars. Instead they must borrow money, pay interest, and satisfy bank-mandated conditions to purchase letter-of-credit collateral. If they cannot recover the cost of those letters of credit, they have been forced to pay what may be large expenses for the sole benefit of a judgment creditor who was not entitled to a judgment.

2. Does an interpretation of rule 8.278, subdivision (d)(1)(F) that does not allow recovery of interest payments and bank fees made for a surety bond, but nonetheless does allow recovery of interest

for a cash deposit made in lieu of a surety bond, violate the equal protection clauses of the state and federal constitutions?

Short Answer: Yes. No rational basis supports discrimination against parties who must borrow money to purchase letters of credit to collateralize appeal bonds in favor of parties who must borrow money to make cash deposits in lieu of bond.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### 1. The Underlying Litigation

In 2001, Steve and Connie Rossa ("the Rossas") entered into a contract with D.L. Falk Construction, Inc. ("Falk" or "Falk Construction") under which Falk agreed to build a home for the Rossas in Hillsborough for \$1.7 million. (2 AA 458, 461.) Because the contract expressly excluded surveying from the scope of Falk's contractual obligations, the Rossas contracted with R&R Surveying ("R&R") to survey the property. (2 AA 459.) R&R improperly surveyed the property; as a result, a portion of the Rossas' home encroached upon a side set back. (2 AA 459.) When the City of Hillsborough discovered the set-back encroachment, it ordered the construction stopped. (2 AA 459.) After a delay of five months, and a \$150,000 payment made to charity to compensate the encroached-upon neighbor, construction resumed. (2 AA 459.)

Ultimately, unresolved disputes between Falk and the Rossas prompted Falk to stop work on the project in October of 2002. (2 AA 459.)

In October of 2004, the Rossas sued both Falk and R&R, alleging breach of contract and negligence causes of action against Falk and R&R, and further alleging breach of express and implied warranty causes of action against Falk. (2 AA 459.) The crux of the Rossas' claim against R&R (the "encroachment claim") was that the missurvey of their property resulted in the set-back encroachment, causing significant delay and considerable expense. (2 AA 460.) This encroachment claim was settled with R&R on the eve of trial for \$185,000. (2 AA 461.)

In January of 2006, trial proceeded against Falk. The Rossas sought roughly \$360,000 in breach of contract and negligence damages. (2 AA 461.) The breach of contract claim pursued against Falk at trial (described by the Rossas' trial counsel as the "money case") alleged that Falk failed to build the Rossas' home for the agreed-upon sum of \$1.7 million, and sought two categories of damages in connection with the alleged breach:

(1) a "material overcharge" of \$54,854; and (2) "unearned conditions" of \$50,200. (2 AA 461.)

In addition to the breach of contract claim, the Rossas pursued two negligence claims against Falk at trial. The first of these negligence claims (described by counsel as the "defects case") alleged a number of construction defects, and sought \$133,388 for these alleged breaches of the "standard of care." (2 AA 462.) The second negligence claim (described by counsel as the "delay case") alleged that Falk's negligence caused months

of delay, and sought \$66,000 in damages allegedly attributable to Falk's negligence. (2 AA 462.)

The jury returned the following verdict: "On [the Rossas'] cause of action for breach of contract against Falk, the jury finds for [the Rossas] against defendant Falk. The jury finds damages caused by the breach of contract in the amount of \$100,000. [¶] On [the Rossas'] cause of action for negligence against Falk, the jury finds against [the Rossas] and for defendant Falk." (2 AA 462.)

Following the jury's verdict, the trial court entered a Judgment on the Verdict, and subsequently a Nunc Pro Tunc Judgment on the Verdict, adjudging that: "(1) the Rossas recover \$100,000 plus post-judgment interest against Falk on their breach of contract cause of action; (2) the Rossas take nothing on their negligence cause of action; (3) the Rossas were the prevailing parties with respect to their breach of contract cause of action; and (4) the Rossas shall recover their costs against Falk in the amount of \$45,344, exclusive of attorney's fees and expert witness fees."

(2 AA 463.) The trial court reserved the right to award attorney's fees and expert witness fees following a motion to be filed by the Rossas. (2 AA 463.)

#### 2. The Attorneys' Fee Award

Based on their \$100,000 victory on the breach of contract claim, the Rossas moved to recover over \$500,000 in attorney's fees from Falk. (2 AA 463.) The motion was supported by the declarations of the Rossas' chief trial counsel Daniel McLennon, and California attorney's fee expert Richard Pearl. (2 AA 463.) McLennon's declaration divided the attorney's fees into four time periods: prior to the first mediation, \$41,109.50 was billed for 215.8 hours of time; between the first and second mediations, \$44,225 was billed for 225.9 hours of time; between the second mediation and the start of trial, \$180,991.50 was billed for 826.05 hours of time; and during trial, \$195,098 was billed for 894.23 hours of time. (2 AA 464.) McLennon did not provide any information as to the nature of the work done during these time periods. (1 AA 154.) Pearl's declaration provided an analysis of attorney's fees charged by various law firms, and concluded that – based on what he had been told in a 2.5 hour meeting with the Rossas' attorneys – the hourly rates were not unreasonable. (2 AA 465.)

Falk opposed the motion, arguing, among other things, that the Rossas failed to meet the burden of proof necessary to support an award of attorney's fees, and that the amount sought must be reduced because of the Rossas' limited success in their litigation against Falk, i.e., the abject failure of the encroachment claim, negligence claims, and breach of warranty claims. (2 AA 465.) Falk's opposition was supported by the

declarations of Falk's trial counsel Jeffrey Leon and Robert Keenan. (2 AA 466.) Keenan's declaration attached complete copies of numerous pretrial depositions taken by the Rossas' attorneys, and pointed out that a substantial number of these depositions pertained in whole or in part to the unsuccessful negligence and encroachment claims. (2 AA 466.) Keenan also pointed out that a substantial number of the pleadings prepared by the Rossas' attorneys pertained in whole or in part to these unsuccessful claims. (2 AA 466.)

The Rossas' memorandum in reply asserted, largely without analysis or support, that they had met their burden of proof and that the award should not be reduced. (2 AA 466.) The Rossas did not object to Keenan's declaration or attempt to take issue with his analysis of the pre-trial depositions and pleadings. (2 AA 466.) In a supplemental reply declaration, McLennon attached the attorneys' bills submitted to the Rossas, but redacted any description of the services provided in connection with the hours billed, prompting the trial court to observe at the hearing on the motion, "Mr. McLennon, that is a fairly interesting point. . . . [T]here are, well over several hundred pages here. [¶] . . . [¶] But it's nothing, but inked out things," and "Mr. Leon's point is why [did] you submit all these redacted. This is simply – well, it's almost mind boggling. All you had to do was[,] if you are going to do this[,] is say I spent X number of [hours] and X number of dollars per hour." (2 AA 467-468.)

On September 11, 2006, the trial court awarded the Rossas the entire amount requested in their fee motion: \$681,390.15. (1 AA 39-41, 468-469.) The court refused to apportion fees between successful and losing claims as requested by Falk. (*Id.*)

#### 3. The Appeals and Appeal Bonds

On June 30, 2006, Falk appealed from the Nunc Pro Tunc Judgment on the Verdict, designated A114677 (the "initial appeal"). (1 AA 23-24, 226, 2 AA 469.) The same day, Falk filed an appeal bond in the amount of \$225,000 to stay enforcement of the \$100,000 judgment pending against Falk (the "initial appeal bond"). (1 AA 227, 2 AA 429-434.)

On September 26, 2006, the trial court entered a Nunc Pro Tunc Judgment on the Verdict in the total amount of \$781,390.15, incorporating the September 11, 2006 Order awarding attorney's fees and costs. (2 AA 420-422.) On November 9, 2006, Falk appealed from both the September 26, 2006 Nunc Pro Tunc Judgment on the Verdict awarding attorney's fees and costs and the September 11, 2006 Order awarding attorney's fees and costs, designated A116151 (the "attorney fee appeal"). (2 AA 425-426, 469.) On November 17, 2006, Falk filed an additional appeal bond in the amount of \$955,000 (the "second appeal bond"), increasing the total bonded amount to cover the full amount of the judgment, including attorney's fees and costs. (1 AA 227, 2 AA 443-446.) The annual

premium on the second appeal bond was \$9,550. (2 AA 239 [Sutton Decl., ¶ 4]; 2 AA 446.)

In order to obtain issuance of the second appeal bond, the surety required Falk to procure a Standby Letter of Credit from a bank in the amount of \$954,070. (2 AA 239 [Sutton Decl., ¶ 5].) Janice Sutton, Falk's Vice President, inquired of Wells Fargo Bank as to its requirements for issuance of the necessary Standby Letter of Credit, and was informed that Falk would be required to open a deposit account with Wells Fargo and deposit funds totaling \$954,070 as security. (2 AA 239 [Sutton Decl., ¶ 5].)

In order to obtain the funds necessary to set up the deposit account, Falk Construction drew down \$483,070 on its commercial line of credit with Wells Fargo. Falk's principal, David Falk, borrowed an additional \$471,000. This loan was funded by a draw down on Mr. Falk's personal line of credit with Wells Fargo. (2 AA 239 [Sutton Decl., ¶ 6].) The terms of the loan from David Falk required Falk Construction to reimburse him for the actual interest paid and expenses incurred to borrow the funds from his personal line of credit. (2 AA 239 [Sutton Decl., ¶ 6].)

## 4. Settlement and the Judgment Appeal

On September 5, 2007, Falk and the Rossas settled Falk's initial appeal from the underlying judgment of \$100,000. (2 AA 487:10-15 [Tanke Decl., ¶ 6].) In connection with the settlement, Falk satisfied the

judgment, dismissed the initial appeal, and withdrew the \$225,000 bond posted to stay enforcement of the underlying verdict. (*Id.*)

#### 5. Reversal of the Fee Award

Falk's attorney's fee award appeal continued after settlement of the judgment appeal. On September 9, 2008, the Court of Appeal issued an unpublished opinion reversing the award of attorney's fees and expert witness fees, holding that the trial court abused its discretion in four respects. (2 AA 457-483; 2008 WL 4147560.) As the appellate court observed:

First, the trial court abused its discretion by concluding that "the lodestar 'doctrine should not be utilized where the action deals only with a pecuniary claim, and not a matter dealing with the public interest." (2 AA 472.) Accordingly, awarding the full amount of fees requested by the Rossas, without analyzing "whether any of the work for which the Rossas sought payment was duplicative, or wasteful, or for some other reason should not have been compensated," constituted an abuse of discretion. (2 AA 474.)

Second, the trial court abused its discretion by failing to apportion the Rossas' attorney's fees between the successful and unsuccessful causes of action. (2 AA 474-480.) As the Court of Appeal succinctly explained: "[T]he Rossas' complaint alleged five causes of action: one for breach of contract, one for negligence, and three for breaches of warranty. The

Rossas dismissed three of the claims, went to the jury on two claims, and succeeded on one, the contract claim. They lost on the negligence claim. The trial court nevertheless gave them all the fees requested, with no analysis. This was error." (2 AA 475.) Contrary to the trial court's conclusion that "it would be inappropriate to penalize [the Rossas] because their attorney utilized multiple theories," the Court of Appeal held that the Rossas did not utilize multiple theories, but rather brought "multiple claims, four out of five of which were unsuccessful." (2 AA 477.) Consequently, apportionment between the successful and unsuccessful claims was mandatory, and failure to do so constituted an abuse of discretion. (*Id.*)

Third, the trial court abused its discretion by awarding, "[w]ithout analysis or discussion – indeed, without mention," all requested expert witness fees despite the fact that such fees were not pleaded and proved as damages at trial. (2 AA 480-482.)

Finally, the trial court abused its discretion by awarding as costs "copying charges, federal express charges, facsimile charges, expenses for summarizing depositions, expenses for an investigator, travel expenses not related to depositions, and miscellaneous other expenses," many of which were unrecoverable as costs, and all of which were neither pleaded nor proved as damages at trial. (2 AA 482.)

The Court of Appeal remanded the matter for further proceedings consistent with its Opinion. Falk was awarded costs on appeal. (2 AA 483.)

#### 6. The Trial Court's Order Striking Falk's Interest Costs

When the Court of Appeal's Opinion reversing the fee award was filed, Falk had been advised by its appeal bond surety that, unless Falk obtained an order exonerating the second appeal bond before the renewal date of November 16, 2008, Falk would be required to pay an additional annual bond premium of \$9,550, and to replace or extend the line of credit obtained to secure the bond. (2 AA 241 [Sutton Decl., ¶ 12].) The following day, September 10, 2008, Falk's counsel contacted the Rossas' counsel, advised him of the appellate decision, explained the costs of renewing the bond, and asked that the Rossas stipulate to an order exonerating the bond. (2 AA 241:15-21 [Sutton Decl., ¶ 13; 2 AA 397:9-14 [Gutierrez Decl., ¶ 12].) The Rossas refused. (2 AA 397:15-19 [Gutierrez Decl., ¶ 13]; 2 AA 448:15-18 [Sherman Decl., ¶ 5].)

On October 30, 2008, Falk's appellate counsel sent an email to the Rossas' counsel renewing the request to release the bond and transmitting a proposed stipulation for the Rossas to sign providing for the issuance of an order releasing the bond. The Rossas' counsel did not respond. (2 AA 487:16-24 [Tanke Decl., ¶ 7].) Another email was sent on November 12, 2008, advising the Rossas' counsel that failure to respond and execute the

order would result in Falk seeking the recovery of the additional expenses for renewing the bond. The Rossas' counsel responded by questioning Falk's right to recover such expenses. (2 AA 487:25-488:2 [Tanke Decl., ¶8].)

Falk filed a timely Memorandum of Costs on Appeal seeking \$146,030.11. (1 AA 3.) It was also required to pay the renewal premium of \$9,550, as well as a fee of \$1,784 to extend the line of credit by one month. (2 AA 241:15-21; 242:1-9 [Sutton Decl., ¶¶ 13, 15].) It then filed an Amended Memorandum of Costs on Appeal (Falk's "cost memorandum") seeking \$147,814.11, including the \$1,784 fee to extend the line of credit under the heading "[o]ther expenses reasonably necessary to secure surety bond." (1 AA 207.)

Without a stipulation from the Rossas, Falk was required to file a motion to exonerate the appeal bond surety. The Rossas did not oppose Falk's motion. The surety was exonerated and the bond discharged. (1 AA 213-216.)

Falk's cost memorandum consisted of four items, which were incurred by Falk in order to procure the letter of credit to obtain its surety bond:

Premium costs for the appeal bond. Falk incurred \$28,650 for premium costs for the appeal bond. (1 AA 207; 2 AA 239:4-11.)

Bank credit extension fees. Falk incurred \$1,784 from an additional "non-refundable commitment loan fee" to extend Falk's commercial line of

extend Falk Construction's commercial line of credit by an additional month because the funds collateralizing the Letter of Credit had been drawn down by the Bank, pending an order discharging the surety bond. The withdrawal of funds had been triggered by Wells Fargo's decision not to renew the Letter of Credit. (2 AA 242:1-9 [Sutton Decl., ¶ 15].)

Bank letter of credit fees. Falk incurred \$950.00 in bank letter of credit fees, including two annual charges of \$450 each and two \$25 charges for courier services. (2 AA 241:22-28 [Sutton Decl. ¶ 14].)

Interest. The total interest expense incurred by Falk to obtain the Letter of Credit was \$99,289.81. (2 AA 239:12-20 [Sutton Decl., ¶ 5].)

Calculation of the interest expense is explained in the Declaration of Janice Sutton as follows:

"In calculating the interest expense for purposes of the Memorandum of Costs, I determined the total amounts paid on Falk Construction's line of credit and David Falk's line of credit as reflected on the monthly statements from the financial institutions that extended the credit lines.

On the Falk Construction line of credit, there were additional sums drawn down on the line. To determine the amount of interest expense allocable to the deposit funds, I multiplied the monthly interest expense by a fraction the numerator of

which was the total borrowed and deposited in the Wells Fargo deposit account to secure the Letter of Credit (\$483,070) and the denominator of which was the total borrowed on the line of credit. This totaled \$77,033.81. I added to this the total interest paid to David Falk to reimburse him for the interest expense on his personal line of credit (\$471,000), which totaled \$77,949.67. I then subtracted from this total the interest payments received on the deposited funds totaling \$55,693.57. [¶] [Accounting for updated information and additional interest paid, the total interest paid on Falk Construction's line of credit was \$80,658.05; the total interest paid to David Falk to reimburse him expenses on his line of credit were \$83,195.84; and, the total interest earned on the funds deposited in the deposit account were \$55,588.27. The total cost to Falk Construction to secure the Letter of Credit required to collateralize the surety bond was therefore \$108,262.62." (2 AA 239:27-240:22 [Sutton Decl.,  $\P 7-8].)$ 

On December 3, 2008, the Rossas filed a Motion to Strike

Defendant's Costs in Cost Bill After Appeal (the Rossas' "motion to strike

costs"), challenging a number of items, including the \$99,289.81 in interest

payments made on the letter of credit required to secure the bond and the \$1,784 credit extension fee. (1 AA 7-16.)

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