SUPREME COURT COPY

No. S183523

First District Court of Appeal Division Two

Case No. A125567

IN SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

STEVE ROSSA and CONNIE ROSSA

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

vs.

D.L. FALK CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT

JAN 1 0 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Appeal from the Honorable Marie Weiner (San Mateo Superior Court Case No.: CIV 442294)

DANIEL F. MCLENNON, ESQ. (SBN 124810)
MARC L. SHERMAN, ESQ. (SBN 120728)
MCLENNON LAW CORPORATION 550 California Street
Sacramento Tower, Suite 700
San Francisco, California 94104
Telephone: (415) 394-6688
Facsimile: (415) 394-6687

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

incurred in making the cash deposit." (*Id.* at 1300.) The court pointed to <u>no</u> case, statute, rule or other authority for its conclusion that interest was ever included as a recoverable expense for making a cash deposit. Moreover, it ignored Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 995.250 that limits recoverable costs to the "premium on a bond" and does not provide for interest.

The ways the *Cooper* case differs from the present one are important. So are its analysis and the manner by which it comes to its decision. It involved a rule with different language. Further, while it holds that interest for borrowed money is recoverable when the money is posted in lieu of a surety bond, it does not discuss whether (1) this applies to money similarly borrowed for a letter of credit securing a surety bond or (2) whether any statute actually authorizes the payment of interest as a cost. In effect, the court bootstraps its own argument by indicating that, because deposits in lieu and surety bonds are equivalents and rule 26 permits the recovery of costs, such costs include interest. But it cites no authority for its premise—and indeed there is none—that interest incurred to obtain a surety bond is an awardable appellate cost in any situation.

As both the trial court and First Appellate District noted, *Cooper* only applies to a situation in which money was borrowed so as to make a <u>direct</u> deposit in court, when such deposit substitutes for a surety bond. (Opinion, p.7; 2 AA 528.) It does not apply to money deposited in a party's own bank account. More importantly, as the First Appellate District noted, the premises and reasoning of the *Cooper* court are "dubious," particularly in ignoring Cal.

Code Civ. Proc. § 1033.5 which permits the recovery of only premiums on surety bonds. (Opinion, p.10-11.)

2. Cooper Was Incorrectly Decided and Should be Overturned

In coming to its determination, the *Cooper* court relied on a 1982 amendment to surety bond statutes that provided, "A deposit given instead of a bond has the same force and effect, is treated the same, and is subject to the same conditions, liability, and statutory provisions, including provisions for increase and decrease of amount, as the bond." (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 995.730.) (*Cooper, supra,* 81 Cal. App.4th at 1298.) However, this language of section 995.730 does not mention interest or authorize awarding it for funds borrowed to make deposits in lieu of bonds. Nowhere in the surety bond statutes (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. §995.010. *et seq.*) is there a provision permitting the recovery of interest. In fact, Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 995.250, limits recoverable costs to the "premium on a bond."

The 1982 amendments to the Bond and Undertaking Law on which the Cooper court relied merely codified and consolidated in one chapter then-existing law. (Milo Equipment Corp. v. Elsinore Valley Mun. Water Dist. (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 1282, 1285-1286; Royster Construction Co. v. Urban West Communities (1995) 40 Cal. App.4th 1158, 1167.) It did not change previous law that precluded recovery of interest on surety bonds (or money securing letters of credit) as a cost. (Moss, supra, 12 Cal.2d at 274; Sequoia

Vacuum Systems, supra, 229 Cal.App.2d at 289; Golf West of Kentucky, Inc., supra, 178 Cal.App.3d at 315.)

The Bond and Undertaking Law limits recoverable bond costs to the premium on the bond and nowhere provides for interest on a bond. Similarly, Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1034(b), by which the Legislature authorized the Judicial Council to make appellate cost rules, does not provide for interest. The *Cooper* court's use of section 995.730, while ignoring another provision of the Bond and Undertaking Law, Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 995.250, as well as ignoring the fact that the law was a mere codification of previous law, undermines its decision that interest was an awardable cost on appeal. There was simply no authority to support this decision.

Falk tries to rescue the *Cooper* decision by making the distinction that section 1034(b) involves appellate costs and that general rules regarding surety bonds (or trial costs) were effectively overruled by the statute. Section 1034(b), however, only <u>authorizes</u> the Judicial Council to make appellate cost rules. It does not indicate interest or any other expenses are to be included as recoverable appellate costs. Accordingly, the statute is irrelevant to determine <u>what</u> costs are permitted under either section 1034(b) or rule 8.278. While the statute may have included the broad authorization to permit the Judicial Council to have included interest as a recoverable appeal cost, whether or not the Judicial Council did this is what is at issue before this Court. Section 1034,

as an authorization statute, is simply not helpful in making this determination.¹⁸ It does not show that the *Cooper* court was correct in permitting interest because section 1034(b) does not provide for interest.

In addition, Falk's position requires it to take a pick and choose approach to the *Cooper* decision. Falk argues that the *Cooper* court was acting properly by not considering Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 995.250 because it is not an appellate statute. Yet, it argues the court's use of section 995.730 regarding the equivalent treatment of bonds and cash deposits—which is also not an appellate statute—was proper. Falk's position makes no sense: either both statutes are inapplicable because they do not involve appellate costs, or they should both be taken into consideration as applying to bonds in both the appellate and trial contexts. The inconsistency undermines both the *Cooper* court's and Falk's argument.

The above shows that the *Cooper* court's decision was not correctly supported by legal authority or rationale and the case itself is thus not proper

¹⁸ This is also applicable to the other places Falk appears to depend on section 1034(b). As an authorization statute it did not overrule previous case law regarding the strict construction of cost statutes or broaden permitted costs. It only directs the Judicial Council to make appellate cost rules and empowers it to "establish by rule allowable costs on appeal and the procedure for claiming those costs." The Judicial Council did just that. But neither section 1034(b) nor rule 8.278 indicates interest is included as such an awardable cost.

authority that interest is a recoverable cost on any sort of appeal. Frankly, the case was incorrectly decided and should be overturned.¹⁹

C. The Decision Whether Interest Should be Included As An Awardable Appellate Cost Should Be Made By The Legislative Process, Not This Court

It is axiomatic that only the Legislature is authorized to enact statutes. (Schaezlein v. Cabaniss (1902) 135 Cal. 466, 467; In re McLain (1923) 190 Cal. 376, 379.) Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1034(b) authorized the Judicial Council to establish rules regarding recoverable appellate costs. This Court cannot interfere with this legislative process so as to direct a certain cost to be recoverable by judicial fiat. (Santa Clara v. Superior Court (1949) 33 Cal.2d 552, 556, 558; See also, Geldermann, supra, 10 Cal.App.4th at 644 (Courts' "authority is limited to applying [rules] as written.") The legislature has reserved this decision to the Judicial Council. (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1034(b).)

¹⁹ Alternatively, the decision in *Cooper* regarding interest was *dicta* since it involved a different factual situation and a different rule than involved here. As the First Appellate District indicated, the "issue here is a letter of credit, not a cash deposit" as involved in *Cooper*. (Opinion, p. 7.) For this reason the First Appellate District decided "not to <u>extend Cooper</u> to letters of credit. . . ." (Opinion, p. 7.) (Emphasis added.) Discussion in an opinion not necessary to its determination is *dicta* and is not binding precedent. (*Western Landscape Construction v. Bank of America* (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 57, 62; *Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. v. Maryland Casualty Co.* (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 1279, 1301; *Dyer v. Superior Court* (1997) 56 Cal.App.4th 61, 66-67.) Since the *Cooper* case and the one before the First Appellate District involved different fact situations (a cash deposit in lieu of a bond instead of a letter of credit) and a different version of the rule (e.g., using the term of "expense" instead of "cost") this Court need not overrule *Cooper* to affirm the First Appellate District's Opinion.

This Court does not "rewrite [a] statute so as to make it conform to a presumed intention which is not expressed." (*Jarrow Formulas, Inc., supra,* 31 Cal.4th at 737.)

In a situation such as involved here, the Court needs to abstain and defer to the legislative process to make the required decision. (*Serrano, supra,* 18 Cal.3d at 775, n.54 *Alter, supra,* 64 Cal.2d at 483.) An analogous case is when this Court was asked to read a broad public-interest privilege into Cal. Civil Code § 47(3) in *Brown v. Kelly Broadcasting Co.* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 711. In *Brown*, the news media argued that section 47 included a broad immunity for communications made in the public interest. The bulk of the argument was that public policy supported this broad protection. (*Id.* at 721.) The Court determined that the language of the statute did not support the protections proffered by the proponents and held: "If the Legislature had intended to create a broad public-interest privilege for the news media, the Legislature could easily have done so in reasonably clear language." (*Id.* at 724.)

The Court similarly indicated that neither the statute's legislative history nor case law supported the proffered reading. (*Id.* at 726-736.) Thus it indicated that the expansion of the statute was a "legislative prerogative" because, among other reasons, it "would raise serious public policy questions." (*Id.* at 739.) Moreover, the changes proposed would "require analysis of empirical data and are better dealt with in the legislative arena." (*Id.* at 740.) Since the statute was "a creation of the Legislature," that was the body that

should do this, "if it believes the statute should be expanded." (*Id.*) The Court thus held:

We think it inappropriate to construe section 47(3) expansively based on mere intuition as to whether the news media need additional protection. Perhaps the media's arguments are well founded, and there may be ample empirical evidence that warrants a broad public-interest privilege. But, if so, such evidence should be presented to the Legislature. (*Id.* at 751-752.)

This legislative deference approach is similar to what happened in Geldermann with the earlier version of rule 8.278. There, as shown above, Judge King saw an unfairness in a rule that permitted the cost of a bond, but not the amount a bank charged to obtain a letter of credit necessary to obtain the bond. Thus he referred the question to the Judicial Council so it could change the rule. (RJN, p. 4, OBM, pp. 30-31.) Judge King and the other judges deciding Geldermann knew they did not have the authority to interpret the rule to permit the awarding of such an expense as an appeal cost. They knew that this was improper because the language of the rule and the cases interpreting it established that such expenditures were not included in the term "cost" as used in the rule and that "[o]nly those costs enumerated in the rule are recoverable." (Geldermann, supra, 10 Cal.App.4th at 642.) Thus they properly deferred to the Judicial Council, the only body with legislative authority to change the rule under Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1034(b). (Id.)

Indeed, this reference resulted in a change to correct the problems perceived in the rule. (RJN, p. 4.) Thereafter, the Judicial Council promulgated

an amended version of the rule that adding language to provide that the particular cost involved in *Geldermann*—the bank fee to obtain a letter of credit securing an appellate bond—was recoverable. (RJN, pp. 60-61.)

The approach taken by this Court in *Brown* and the appellate court in *Geldermann* is the one that should be followed by the Court in this case. Since Rule 8.278 does not by its plain language, intent or any other determinant of its meaning, provide for the awarding of interest borrowed to obtain a letter of credit used to collateralize an appeal bond, it is up to the Judicial Council to change the rule—if it determines that such a change is appropriate. If, for instance, it decides that commercial realities dictate this, and that such commercial realities are appropriate to protect under the rule, then it—not this Court—may make the required changes in the rule. (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1034(b).)

This is the proper and fair way for laws and rules to be changed. Here, for instance, Falk argues that including interest is the only fair way to compensate him for having to protect himself from the Rossas' executing on their judgment against him while he appealed the trial court's attorney's fees ruling. However, it is at least as equally fair for a respondent on an appeal to rely on the law and appellate rules as written and currently in effect in making decisions regarding an appeal (or settling it). Only if such respondents can know in advance that they might be subject to paying interest, in addition to other appellate costs, can they make fully informed decisions regarding their

appeals. Here, the rule did not indicate interest was awardable and the case law, other than the improperly decided *Cooper*, indicated that such interest was not awardable. To hold now that it is awardable despite the plain language of the rule that does not include interest would be unfair to such respondents. It would be like a retroactive tax.

Thus Falk's "fairness" argument that he had to pay for interest as a "commercial reality" is countered by the Rossas' decision to continue to defend the appeal with the understanding, as indicating by the language of rule 8.278, that they would not face a six figure interest payment as a cost of such an appeal. If, however, in the future, the Judicial Council changed the rule to indicate clearly that interest for a letter of credit securing an appellate bond is a recoverable appellate cost, then all parties to an appeal would be properly and fully informed of the potential costs of such an appeal before litigating it. This is something only the Judicial Council or legislature can do. This Court cannot. This Court interprets the law as written, it does not add terms that are not there. (Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 1858; State Bd of Ed. v. Levit (1959) 52 Cal.2d 441, 452.)

Both the law and fairness dictate that if this Court believes interest should be awarded for funds borrowed to obtain a letter of credit to secure an appeal bond, it should refer this matter to the legislative process, not add terms to the rule that were not previously there.

D. The First Appellate District's Decision Does Not Violate The Equal Protection Clause

Falk argues that affirming the First Appellate District's Opinion would be a violation of constitutional equal protection principles. The argument assumes that *Cooper* was correctly decided and will be upheld by this Court.²⁰ As indicated above, *Cooper* should be overruled because it failed to apply correctly the Bond and Undertaking Law and the predecessor to Cal. Rule of Court 8.278. Moreover, it does not even apply the rule as it currently exists. If this Court agrees that *Cooper* was improperly decided or inapplicable, Falk's equal protection argument fails: there would be no distinction between the treatment of interest on cash deposited in lieu of bonds and funds borrowed to secure bonds. Interest would not be permitted in both instances.

Moreover, Falk did not raise the equal protection argument in the trial court. A constitutional issue should be raised first in the trial court, which, since Falk did not do, it waived. (Fourth La Costa Condominium Owners Assn. v. Seith (2008) 159 Cal. App.4th 563, 585.) The First Appellate District thus properly declined to consider the argument. (People v. Burgener (2001) 29 Cal.4th 833, 860, n.1.) Similarly, this Court normally does not decide arguments not brought up in the lower courts. (Cal. Rule of Court 8.500(c)(1); Jimenez v. Superior Court (2002) 29 Cal.4th 473, 481.) Because the issue was

²⁰ It further seems to assume that it is proper to have disparities between trial costs and appeal costs.

not raised in the trial court, it was not developed there and it should not be considered here.

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